FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
8/9/2019 3:36 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

97528-1

Court of Appeals # 51273-4-II

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

CARMALITTA ESCARCEGA, Respondent

٧.

DANIEL J. BARRETT, Petitioner

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Daniel J. Barrett
Appellant, pro se
PO Box 361
South Prairie, WA 98385
DanielJBarrett@outlook.com

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

DANIEL J. BARRETT asks this court to accept review of the Court of Appeals decision designated in Part B of this petition.

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Appellant asks for review of the Court of Appeals Division Two order granting attorney fees. The order granting attorney fees was entered on May 14, 2019. This Petitioner motioned for recnsideration, which was denied on July 10, 2019, starting the tolling of time until today for the deadline to petition for review.

A copy of the original order granting attorney fees is in the Appendix at pages A-1 through A-5. The ruling is in the first paragraph on page A-5. A copy of the order denying Petitioner's motion for reconsideration is in the Appendix at page A-6.

C. ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

<u>Issue No. 1</u>: The only issue of this Petition is the award of attorney fees on appeal. This court should accept review and reverse that part of the order.

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

I prevailed in the Court of Appeals Division Two. See A-4 to A-5.

But, Division Two awarded attorney fees to the non-prevailing party and cited RAP 18.1 a statute that favors me (RCW 26.09.140) See last paragraph of A-4. You can see these authorities favor me in the argument below. Division Two violated multiple other well-established case law decisions and policies...the same policies that Division Two said the superior court ignored.

In Pierce County Superior Court, I sought termination of a restraining order, entered because of a lack of father/children bond, after several months of no contact between this Petitioner/father and his children with Respondent. At the last hearing with oral argument in superior court, my attorney of record was a no-show and the judge was angered with him, since there had already been previous continuances. The Respondent was therefore awarded attorney fees.

On May 14, 2019, the Division Two held that that the Superior Court judge did NOT follow public policy when granting an award of attorney fees. Division Two remanded for that judge to reconsider her decision in light of the law and public policy. See A-4 to A-5.

So, this Petitioner prevailed on appeal.

The Respondent requested attorney fees with the entirety of her argument resting on RAP 18.1. See index of her brief on A-36 mentions page 8 as the argument for "Attorney Fees". Page 8 of Respondent's brief is A-45. Section IV on that page has ONE sentence therein and it only cites RAP 18.1 as an authority. RAP 18.1 basically states a hypothetical by saying "IF there is a legal authority"...but she did not cite one other than the rule which requires a different authority.

The Court of Appeals granted the requested fees. See A-5.

This Respondent moved for reconsideration. The Motion for Reconsideration is attached herewith as A-13 to A-28. That argument is incorporated herein by reference and should persuade this court to accept

review, along with the argument below.

In short, and ironically, the Court of Appeals violated the SAME public policy that the Court of Appeals said Pierce County Superior Court violated. To wit, Division Two said, in essence, "Pierce County judge cannot award attorney fees without considering public policy first. But, we WILL award attorney fees on appeal WITHOUT considering that same public policy."

The court awarded attorney fees automatically with a vague reference to RAP 18.1 and RCW 26.09.140 which has been expounded upon in case law below. To wit, that statute and the subsequent public policy require that the Respondent prove BOTH:

- (1) her need for help to pay fees, and
- (2) my ability to pay her fees.

Her own Financial Declaration states that she paid a significant portion of her fees and had an agreed low repayment plan of the balance. See A-33, last page of Financial Declaration (entire document starts at A-29. That proves that she has no need. She is disqualified from an award of fees by that alone.

Moreover, she did not even attempt to prove the other element (my ability to pay).

E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

1. Court of Appeals found error with Superior Court, then committed the VERY SAME error – outrageous factors for RAP 13.4(b)

Since Division Two found error with the Pierce County judge's award of attorney fees without statutory/case law factors considered, then Division Two

committed the same error (awarding attorney fees without following the factors). So, the Court of Appeals committed error under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (2) violating or being in "conflict" with well-established, long-standing public policy of decisions of this Supreme Court and the appellate courts.

It is rather outrageous that Division Two would err in the same way that the lower court erred and Division Two is the one who found, held and declared the error and remanded. This case reaches the level of outrageous since it defies all the extraordinary rules on departing from the status quo, not following stare decisis and ignoring other decisions of the higher courts.

2. I prevailed, so I am the one who should be getting any fees awarded

RCW 4.84.010 allows costs to the prevailing party, including filing fees as stated under subsection .010(1). There's NO RIGHT of a non-prevailing party when this prevailing party is entitled to costs and fees. RCW 4.84.010 is cited by Division Three in Kalich vs. Clark, 152 Wn. App. 544, 215 P.3d 1049 (2009). Division Two awarded costs when THIS PETITIONER won.

3. Court MUST consider the circumstances of the parties and then find "need and ability to pay" before awarding attorney fees – no such argument or demonstration of evidence was even attempted by the party who bore this burden to prove these elements

Neither party is entitled to attorney fees as a matter of right. <u>In re Marriage of Leslie</u>, 90 Wn. App. 796, 805, 954 P.2d 330 (1998), review denied, 137 Wn.2d 1003 (1999).

Requesting attorney fees without authority is reversible error. Our higher courts always, automatically deny attorney fees when **no** authority is cited—even

though everyone knows the maxim regarding attorney fees ("need vs. ability to pay"). For example, In re Marriage of Hoseth, 115 Wn. App. 563, 63 P.3d 164 (2003) reads in part:

"But he cites no applicable authority justifying such an award...Accordingly, James is not entitled to fees. See <u>In re Marriage of Coyle</u>, 61 Wn. App. 653_665, 811 P.2d 244 (1991)."

The Respondent did cite a rule, RAP 18.1, but that rule says that there has to be another authority that must be cited. So, that rule technically is not an authority in and of itself for granting attorney fees.

A party relying on RCW 26.09.140 "must make a showing of need and of the other's ability to pay fees in order to prevail." <u>Kirshenbaum v. Kirshenbaum</u>, 84 Wn. App. 798, 808, 929 P.2d 1204 (1997) (citing <u>In re Marriage of Konzen</u>, 103 Wn.2d 470, 693 P.2d 97 (1985)).

The Court of Appeals cited the statute above as basis for awarding attorney fees but there was no "showing" on the part of the Respondent. In fact, her "showing" of her Financial Declaration was a self-incriminating "death blow" to her own argument. To wit, Section 5.11 and 5.12 show that Respondent had paid \$5,634.01 out of \$7,671.96 owed. See A-33. And that the balance of \$2,037.95 was being paid on a plan of \$50 easy monthly installments. Her own declaration shows NO NEED for help. She cannot prevail on a request for attorney fees.

This is one of the very reasons that the Court of Appeals found error with the Superior Court.

More specifically, the party requesting the attorney's fees under RCW 26.09.140 must make a *present* showing of need to support the award. <u>In re Marriage of Konzen</u>, 103 Wn.2d 470, 478, 693 P.2d 97, CERT. DENIED, 473

U.S. 906 (1985).

But, the Respondent never made *any mention* of what statute she relies upon, if any. Moreover, she made *no attempt whatsoever* to "make a showing of need and other the other's ability to pay" in her request.

But, the Court of Appeals cites and followed the statute below that this Petitioner cited in my briefing (RCW 26.09.140) which reads in part:

"Payment of costs, attorney's fees, etc.

The court from time to time after considering the financial resources of both parties may order a party to pay a reasonable amount for the cost to the other party of maintaining **or defending** any proceeding under this chapter and for reasonable attorney's fees **or other professional fees** in connection therewith, including sums for legal services rendered **and costs** incurred prior to the commencement of the proceeding or enforcement or modification proceedings after entry of judgment."

It was an uncontested fact that Attorney Dan Smith has represented Respondent Escarcega off and on for 16 years. It is obvious that she has paid the attorney up front. He would not represent her consistently for 16 years without any payment. This deducTive-reasoning conclusion shows that she HAS the ability to pay. It is HER BURDEN to show that she cannot and the other factor that I can. She didn't even attempt to do that and attorney fees CANNOT be awarded.

On point is <u>In re the Marriage of Pennamen</u> 135 Wn. App. 790, 808, 146 P.3d 466 (2006). Therein, the court awarded *neither* party fees, as the parties demonstrated *in their financial affidavits* that they had no ability to pay. Financial Declarations are the *bare minimum* method of demonstrating the element of ability to pay.

If one of the two elements is missing then there is no award. Neither of the two requisite elements were present.

4. There was no substantial evidence to award fees – in fact there was no evidence at al

Courts must make findings of facts and conclusions of law in entering orders. Its findings and rulings must be based upon clearly construed evidence.

The court's findings of fact must be supported by substantial evidence. In re Marriage of Rockwell, 141 Wn. App. 235, 242, 170 P.3d 572 (2007).

Substantial evidence exists if the record contains evidence of sufficient quantity to persuade a fair-minded, rational person of the truth of the declared premise. Bering v. Share, 106 Wn.2d 212, 220, 721 P.2d 918 (1986).

The court's findings of fact must, in turn, support its conclusions of law and decree. Rockwell at 242.

Even if the court applied the correct legal standard to any supported facts, it's still untenable and reversible if the court adopts a view that no reasonable person would take. Yousoufian v. Office of Ron Sims, 168 Wn.2d 444, 458, 229 P.3d 735 (2010) (quoting State v. Rohrich, 149 Wn.2d 647, 654, 71 P.2d 638 (1990).

There is NO EVIDENCE AT ALL, let alone SUBSTANTIAL evidence that the Respondent has any need for help to pay her attorney fees. And there's absolutely not evidence that I can afford to pay her fees. I am pro se now, without the ability to afford my own attorney.

F. CONCLUSION

Division Two abused its discretion by ignoring mandatory public policy in considering attorney fees (and outrageously, it did so after I prevailed on the same issue and error of a superior court judge).

Not only did Division Two depart from the status quo, statute, public policy and the normal course of proceeding and considerations, the judge therein ignored their own ruling in this very case. The issue and guiding authorities were no different than with the superior court issue they found error with...and they committed the exact same error.

Even worse, the Respondent never had a Financial Declaration in superior court. But, when filing one in Division Two, the Respondent incriminated herself and her attorney (with 34 years' experience) that her request for fees was frivolous and not rooted or grounded in fact and law, which actually calls for Civil Rule 11 sanctions against the attorney. He should know better. The request was made solely to harass and financially burden me AFTER the Respondent had already paid over 73% of her balance of attorney fees and had an easy \$50 per month agreement to pay off the balance.

This Supreme Court should accept review, then reverse the award of attorney fees, and then sanction veteran attorney Daniel W. Smith (WSBA# 15206) for making a CR 11 violating, frivolous request for payment of fees when he was already paid and had arrangements to receive the 27% remaining balance.