FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 9/9/2019 10:40 AM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

Supreme Court No. 97528-1

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

CARMELITA ESCARCEGA (fka CARMELITA BARRETT),

Respondent,

v.

DANIEL J. BARRETT,

Petitioner.

ON APPEAL FROM PIERCE COUNTY SUPERIOR COURT

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Daniel W. Smith
WSBA #15206
Barbara J. Kastama
WSBA #16789
Attorneys for Respondent Carmelita
Escarcega

CAMPBELL BARNETT PLLC 317 South Meridian Puyallup, Washington 98371 Phone: (253) 848-3513

Fax: (253) 845-4941

I. IDENTITY OF RESPONDENT

Respondent is Carmelita Escarcega ("Escarcega").

II. COUNTERSTATEMENT OF THE ISSUE

Is there any basis, as required under Rule 13.4(b), for this Court to accept review of the Court of Appeals' award of fees and costs on appeal to Escarcega?

III. COUNTER STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In 2002, at trial the Court entered a Permanent Restraining Order against Daniel Barrett ("Barrett") on Escarcega's Petition to Modify the Parenting Plan relative to the parties' five (5) children. (CP 167.)

On May 16, 2017, Daniel Barrett filed a Motion on May 16, 2017 to lift the Permanent Restraining Order. (CP 134-137.) Mr. Barrett cited RCW 26.50.130(1), (2), and (3) in support of his Motion. (CP 134-135.) Therefore, on September 1, 2017, Escarcega filed a Motion for Attorney's Fees below pursuant to RCW 26.50.100. (CP 10, 194.) The Trial Court, after tolerating Barrett's repeated Motions for Continuance, failure to comply with Court Orders, and other intransigence, denied Barrett's Motion without prejudice and awarded fees to Escarcega. (CP 109-111.)

Barrett appealed the Trial Court's fee award. While the Court of Appeals ultimately determined that RCW 26.09.140 applied to the award of fees, it remanded to the Trial Court for entry of Findings of Fact and

Conclusions regarding the fee award below. Petitioner's Appendix at A-005 (Court of Appeals' Opinion).

During the appellate proceedings, Escargeca timely filed a Financial Declaration, as required by RAP 18.1(c). Respondent's Appendix, at A-001. Her total monthly income of \$2,673.46 as a Tribal Support Advocate barely exceeds her monthly expenses of \$2,624.11. *Id*.

Barrett did not file a Declaration challenging Escarcega's need or his ability to pay. Instead, he objected to Escarcega's Financial Declaration on the meritless ground that the Declaration was inadmissible "new evidence" on appeal. *See* Respondent's Appendix, at A-006.

The Court of Appeals stated that Escarcega had shown financial need, and granted her request for attorneys' fees and costs for defending against Barrett's appeal. Petitioner's Appendix, at A-004.

IV. BARRETT'S PETITION FOR REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

Under RAP 13.4(b), this Court will accept a Petition for discretionary review of a Court of Appeals decision only if (1) the Court of Appeals decision conflicts with a decision of this Court, (2) the Court of Appeals decision conflicts with a published decision of the Court of Appeals, (3) the Petition presents a significant federal or state constitutional

question, or (4) the Petition presents an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by this Court.

The Petition does not contain any direct argument addressing why review should be accepted under the criteria in RAP 13.4(b). This alone should be reason enough to deny review. See RAP 13.4(c)(7) (requiring that Petitions set forth "[a] direct and concise statement of the reason why review should be accepted under one or more of the tests established in section (b), with argument.").

Nevertheless, certain arguments in the Petition might be read to imply that review should be accepted under RAP 13.4(b)(1) or (2), because Barrett argues that the Court of Appeals awarded fees without considering "statutory/case law factors." Petition at 3. If so, Barrett is mistaken. The Court of Appeals awarded fees to Escarcega consistent with RCW 26.09.140, and the decisions of this Court and the Court of Appeals. Review is not warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(1) or (2), or any other criteria established in RAP 13.4(b).

A. RAP 13.4(b)(1): The Court of Appeals Decision Is Not in Conflict with Any Decision of This Court.

Barrett fails to demonstrate how the decision of the Court of Appeals conflicts with any decision of this Court. Indeed, the Court of Appeals' award of fees to Escarcega is consistent with this Court's decisions,

including *In re Marriage of Rideout*, 150 Wn. 2d 337, 357, 77 P.3d 1174 (2003).

Barrett first argues that he, not Escarcega, is entitled to fees because he was the "prevailing party" on appeal. Petition at 4. As an initial point, this is incorrect. The Court of Appeals could not review the Trial Court's award for want of findings and conclusions, and remanded for entry of such findings and conclusions. Petitioner's Appendix at A-004. Thus, there is no "prevailing party" on appeal.

More importantly, Barrett's argument is irrelevant because being the "prevailing party" is not the standard for a fee award pursuant to RCW 26.09.140:

The aforementioned statute [RCW 26.09.140] does not support an award of attorney fees to a party simply on the basis that they are "prevailing." Although the statute does invest appellate courts with discretion to order a party to pay fees and costs to the opposing party, that provision must be read in light of the fact that the statute ties the award of fees to a consideration of financial circumstances

In re Marriage of Rideout, 150 Wn. 2d at 357.

RCW 26.09.140 provides that "[u]pon any appeal, the appellate court may, in its discretion, order a party to pay for the cost to the other party of maintaining the appeal and attorney's fees in addition to statutory costs." This statute applies only to dissolution proceedings and "invest[s] appellate courts with discretion to order a party to pay fees and costs to the

opposing party [after] consider[ation] of financial circumstances." In re Marriage of Rideout, 150 Wn.2d at 357; see also In re Marriage of Chandola, 180 Wn.2d 632, 656, 327 P.3d 644 (2014).

The Court of Appeal's award of appellate fees to Escarcega is based upon a straightforward application of RCW 26.09.140 to undisputed facts. Escarcega filed a timely declaration showing financial need. Barrett did not, nor did he challenge Escarcega's declaration on its merits. The Court of Appeals' award of appellate fees to Escarcega is a proper exercise of its discretion, entirely consistent with this Court's decisions.

B. RAP 13.4(b)(2): The Court of Appeals Decision Is Not in Conflict with Another Decision of the Court of Appeals.

The Petition does not contain any plausible argument asserting that the Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with another decision of the Court of Appeals. In fact, its decision adheres to a line of decisions awarding fees when one party provided a financial declaration, and the other did not. See In re Marriage of Fox, 58 Wn. App. 935, 940, 795 P.2d 1170 (1990) (awarding attorney fees on appeal where one party demonstrated a need and the other party fails to submit a contravening affidavit); In re Marriage of Ambrose, 67 Wn. App. 103, 110, 834 P.2d 101 (1992) (same); In re Marriage of Sanborn, 55 Wn. App. 124, 130-31, 777 P.2d 4 (1989) (same).

C. RAP 13.4(b)(3): The Petition Does Not Present A Significant Federal or State Constitutional Issue.

Barrett's Petition does not identify or present a significant federal or state constitutional issue.

D. RAP 13.4(b)(4): The Petition Does Not Present an Issue of Substantial Public Importance That Should Be Decided by This Court.

Barrett's Petition also does not identify or present "an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court." RAP 13.4(b)(4). The Court of Appeals' fee award to Escarcega affects only the parties to this proceeding, and has no further ramifications.

E. Attorneys' Fees Should be Awarded to Escarcega.

A party on appeal is entitled to attorney fees where applicable law authorizes the award. RAP 18.1(a). RCW 26.09.140 allows this Court, at its discretion, to award fees to Escarcega. Escarcega requests an award of her attorneys' fees and costs in filing this Answer.

V. CONCLUSION

Barrett's Petition fails to establish any of the criteria for discretionary review required by RAP 13(b)(1)-(4). The Court should deny the Petition for Review and award Escarcega her reasonable attorneys' fees and costs in filing this Answer.